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Double-porched Palladian classic mansion with bracket cornices, 
arched doors and ornate cast iron porch supports, railings and 
trim   unusual for this area, almost unique. This house is two 
stories on an English basement. The basic form is typical of 
dwellings in this area of the first half of the nineteenth century.

Handsome cast iron fencing runs in front of the property and of the 
property adjoining (originally total family holdings) and around two 
sides of the Governor's Mansion across the street. The lace-like 
appearance of all the lavish ironwork   porch supports, railings, 
trim, bordering fence, grills of half basement   gives the house 
its popular name.

Said to have been designed by a French architect who at the time */» 
was designing homes in New Orleans, the Lace House is praised rn 
for its ornamental cornices and friezes, parquet floors and figured 
glass doors and windows. Its brass chandeliers were originally gas 
lighted.

The house was built on the S.W. corner of the square in 1854 by a 
respected Columbia banker, John C. Caldwell, as a wedding present 
for his youngest daughter, Mary and her husband, Thomas J. Robertson. 
Caldwell owned the entire block on which this house stands and 
himself lived on the S. E. corner, in the neo-classic mansion presently 
known as Boylston House. Owned by Christopher Atkinson from 1921 to 
1945, the Lace House was restored to much of its original beauty and 
was noted as a showplace. , From 1945 to 1954 it deteriorated as a 
rooming house. As headquarters for the S. C. WCTU from 1954-1968, 
the house and gardens were renovated to a degree.

At present, the exterior is being restored to its original condition. 
The interior, also being restored and redecorated, will be modified 
somewhat to serve as an auxiliary to the Governor's Mansion directly 
across the street. Drawing rooms are being developed on the first 
floor, a banquet-dining room on the second floor. Decorative iron­ 
work gates are proposed at either end of the 800-block of Richland 
Street to close it to traffic, providing landscaped area and tying 
the Lace House to the historic house next door ( Boylston House ) 
and to the Governor's Mansion.
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TATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Lace House has its historic significance as part of Columbia's 
Arsenal Hill, a complex of fine mansions which were built shortly before 
the Civil War, and which furnished residences for the succeeding political 
and social elites of South Carolina's capital city down through the early 
1900s. Foremost among these have been the governors of the state, who 
have lived across the street in the present executive mansion since 1868, 
except for one (Daniel H. Chamberlain) who lived in the BoyIston house 
next door to the Lace House. The Lace House itself was at one time the 
home of a U.S. senator and at another of a mayor of Columbia.

The Lace House and its two neighbors (Boylston House and Governor's 
Mansion) document the past century of South Carolina history: the fall 
of the antebellum aristocracy, the attempted Reconstruction of the state 
by the Radicals, the restoration of the "Redeemers," and the slow,gradual 
return to full participation in national life. The historic value of the 
Lace House has been certified by the South Carolina Commission of Archives 
and History, which includes among its membership the chairmen of the 
history departments of the state supported colleges and universities. 
Top priority has been assigned the Lace House preservation, primarily 
because its close association with the Governor's Mansion strongly 
supports its historical integrity.

Architectural value of the Lace House is attested by leading South Caroline 
architects, among them, Dr. Harold N. Cooledge of the Clemson University 
School of Architecture, Phelps Bultman of Columbia and Henry Boykin of 
Camden. Dr. Cooledge labels the architectural quality "very high," "of 
value to the State," "well worth fighting for."

As part of the Governors Mansion Complex, the Lace House restoration is 
an excellent example of adaptive use. It has strong support from city, 
county, and state governments, and such specific agencies as the Richland- 
Lexington Counties Joint Planning Commission, which finds the development 
"compatible with comprehensive planning being done by our agency and with 
other forms of functional planning being carried out in the area."

The building enjoys special protection under historic preservation pro­ 
visions of city zoning ordinances. Maintenance of the integrity of the 
house is assured by the Parks, Recreation and Tourism department, which 
has a continuing interest in historic preservation. Future operation and 
maintenance cost will be from annual appropriations of the State legislatu
Nat'1 Register status for Lace House is important to the whole area-
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